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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Good

          3  afternoon, everyone. I'm Council Member Hiram

          4  Monserrate, and I have an opening statement, but

          5  before we do that, we are going to observe a moment

          6  of silence in recognition of all those who have

          7  served, and the recent soldiers, Marines, airmen and

          8  sailors who have given their life in the line of

          9  duty overseas. We're going to ask everyone to

         10  indulge a moment of silence.

         11                 (Moment of Silence)

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you,

         13  and God bless our troops.

         14                 Good afternoon, and welcome to

         15  today's Veterans hearing. My name is Council Member

         16  Hiram Monserrate. I have the privilege of chairing

         17  this Committee and today's hearing has been convened

         18  for the purposes of considering Intro No. 298 which

         19  would create military resource centers where

         20  veterans can receive information on programs,

         21  services and other items that are essential to them.

         22                 This local law would require that at

         23  least one such resource center be established in

         24  each of the five boroughs by 2008. The centers would

         25  assist veterans with matters pertaining to education
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          2  training, health, medical and rehabilitation

          3  services, information on federal, state and local

          4  laws affording special rights to members of the

          5  armed services and veterans; employment services,

          6  housing, social services and financial assistance

          7  and tax exemptions. Intro No. 298 would also require

          8  that the Director of Veterans Affairs to submit a

          9  report to the Mayor and to the Speaker of the City

         10  Council every six months regarding the operation of

         11  these resource centers.

         12                 These resource centers are needed

         13  because as service men and women return to New York

         14  City from Iraq, from Afghanistan and from other

         15  conflict areas overseas, they will need assistance

         16  with services which I have already outlined. There

         17  are more than 300,000 military veterans residing in

         18  New York City today. And obviously that number is

         19  growing. The creation of veteran friendly

         20  information centers would help both returning

         21  soldiers in their effort to readjust to civilian

         22  life and older veterans who often still need

         23  additional assistance in their struggle to obtain

         24  the benefits which they are entitled too.

         25                 Today, we expect to hear from Clarice
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          2  Joynes, Executive Director of MOVA; Denny Meyer, the

          3  President of the American Veterans For Equal Rights;

          4  Christine DeLisa, CEO of Staten Island Support Our

          5  Soldiers and many other military veterans and

          6  support groups. I would encourage all those who

          7  intend to testify, please fill out the forms. There

          8  will be a Sergeant of Arms there to fill out of the

          9  forms. Please fill them out legibly and entirely

         10  with your name and address and contact information

         11  so that we can ensure in the future when we have

         12  these hearings, the Veterans Committee can reach out

         13  to you.

         14                 Let me say the following, many have

         15  asked me questions regarding the need to put this in

         16  legislation and I'm going to put this on the record.

         17  We are currently, myself, members of this Committee

         18  and other members of the City Council and I want to

         19  say this, there are many members of the City Council

         20  who are really, really concerned about the plight of

         21  veterans today. I want to take the opportunity and I

         22  know Council Member Nelson was here; he actually

         23  went down to get a bottled water I think for this

         24  hearing and he's very concerned. But also my

         25  colleague from Queens who has been very active and
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          2  is an advocate for Queens.

          3                 Recently, he and I and other

          4  colleagues worked very hard on the issue of Shea

          5  Stadium and including benefits for the local

          6  community and it is this type of activism that we

          7  have brought to the City Council. Council Member

          8  Avella who is here also with us is also a co-

          9  sponsor of the bill and has signed onto the

         10  initiative. We are bringing a message within this

         11  City Council that we need to do more for the

         12  veterans.

         13                 Before we get into any of the

         14  testimony, clearly some people would question why is

         15  the local municipal government taking this type of

         16  step and why am I as a former veteran and Marine

         17  trying to elicit financial resources from the local

         18  government, the City, to have these resources. Quite

         19  frankly, it is because in my opinion the federal

         20  government has dropped the ball. They have dropped

         21  the ball in providing benefits and outreach to our

         22  veterans. I think that it is unfortunate that our

         23  government, our national government, at the same

         24  time they wrap themselves around the American flag

         25  and talking tough about overseas and war, don't do
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          2  the right thing by those veterans, those men and

          3  women who are coming back; who are physically hurt,

          4  who are emotionally hurt, who are traumatized and

          5  face so many challenges.

          6                 I don't take lightly to the excuse,

          7  well it's really a federal or state issue. I say

          8  it's everyone issue. If we are members of

          9  government, even in the City of New York on a

         10  municipal level, then we need to do our part. And it

         11  is not enough for myself or anyone in government to

         12  show up at parades, we need to commit and we need to

         13  put dollars, because it takes dollars to open

         14  centers and hire staff. We need to commit dollars to

         15  our veterans here in the City of New York. I will

         16  say that, I know my colleagues on this Committee

         17  will say that, and hopefully this debate will be

         18  resolved in this budget cycle. But none of it will

         19  happen unless the veterans, the organizations, the

         20  advocates, the family members, the friends of

         21  veterans come to these hearings and begin to write

         22  letters to both our Mayor and yes, even to the

         23  Council Members and the Speaker about the importance

         24  of supporting this initiative. And with no further

         25  delay, I welcome our first (clapping), thank you.
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          2  With no further delay, we are going to have the

          3  representative of MOVA here, the Executive Director

          4  to please begin.

          5                 MS. JOYNES: Thank you very much,

          6  Chairman Monserrate. Good afternoon everyone,

          7  Council Members Avella, Fidler, James and Nelson. It

          8  is a pleasure to appear before the New York City

          9  Committee on Veterans issues.

         10                 The mission of the Mayor's Office of

         11  Veterans' Affairs is to advise the Mayor on issues

         12  and projects impacting on the veterans community. To

         13  offer information and make referrals for veterans

         14  and members of the military who may require the

         15  assistance of the United States Department of

         16  Veterans' Affairs, the New York State Division of

         17  Veterans' Affairs, the Department of Defense, New

         18  York City Agencies, and relevant service providers

         19  throughout New York City. We also support both

         20  veteran and military initiatives that are produced

         21  throughout the City, such as Fleet Week, the New

         22  York City Veterans' Day Parade, and Information

         23  Outreach.

         24                 There are approximately 348,000

         25  veterans and 10,302 reservists, National Guardsman,
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          2  and active duty personnel in the New York City area.

          3  Since Operation Enduring Freedom and Operation Iraqi

          4  Freedom began, this office has seen a steady rise in

          5  the numbers of veterans and service members seeking

          6  assistance. MOVA responds to approximately 300

          7  telephone calls and walk- ins per month from

          8  veterans, service members, and their dependents who

          9  are seeking assistance with receiving information on

         10  housing, employment, education, and healthcare.

         11                 I appreciate this opportunity to

         12  comment on Intro 298 which would require, that at

         13  least one veteran resource center is established and

         14  operational in each borough. While we are always

         15  interested in finding ways to improve our delivery

         16  of services to the veterans community, we are

         17  concerned that this bill would not lead to the most

         18  effective use of resources and would require us to

         19  duplicate services that are already provided by our

         20  counterparts in federal and state governments.  The

         21  staff level at MOVA would have to be increased to

         22  oversee these borough offices. Also, funding would

         23  have to be provided to train and pay prospective

         24  employees for the centers. Funds would also be

         25  required to lease or buy office space and equip the
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          2  offices.

          3                 Currently, the federal government has

          4  Vet Centers throughout the five boroughs. Also, the

          5  New York State Division of Veterans' Affairs has

          6  veterans' counselors in every county of New York

          7  State. Every borough in New York City has a military

          8  presence of active duty, reserve, and/or National or

          9  New York State Guard. The Bronx has Fort Schuyler

         10  Reserve Center; Brooklyn has the US Army Garrison at

         11  Fort Hamilton (New York City's only active duty

         12  command) and the United States Marine Corps Reserve,

         13  6th Communication Battalion. Queens has the US Army

         14  Reserve 77th Regional Readiness Command, the largest

         15  reserve command in New York City. Staten Island is

         16  home to the US Coast Guard and the US Army at Fort

         17  Wadsworth. Manhattan is home to the 69th Infantry

         18  Regiment, the Fighting 69th, and the 369th Infantry

         19  Regiment, the Harlem Hellfighters.

         20                 The Mayor's Office of Veterans

         21  Affairs serves veterans and service members

         22  throughout the City and from its central office.

         23  MOVA takes part immobilization and demobilization

         24  ceremonies for the area military units. We deliver

         25  information on what New York City agencies have to
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          2  offer service members and their families. For

          3  example, Veterans Preference Points for Civil

          4  Service Exams and the Benefits Package for City

          5  Employees serving in OEF/OIF given by the New York

          6  City Department of Citywide Administrative Services;

          7  the Veterans Property Tax Exemption given by the New

          8  York City Department of Finance; the Military Buy-

          9  Back for Retirement given by the New York City

         10  Employees and Retirees System; and the Mayor's

         11  affordable housing initiative through HPD.

         12                 We also give referrals to HRA for

         13  veteran and military families who may need

         14  assistance with receiving food stamps, assistance

         15  with funds for burial, and other social service

         16  programs. We make referrals to many other City,

         17  State, and federal programs that offer special

         18  benefits for veterans. MOVA has kept up with the

         19  increase in the need for assistance within the

         20  veteran and military community of New York City and

         21  continually seeks to improve our methods for meeting

         22  that need.

         23                 MOVA has a website where veterans can

         24  access information on benefits from different

         25  government agencies and current events in the
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          2  community. We direct veterans and service members to

          3  the City, State and Federal agency that can provide

          4  the particular type of assistance they need.

          5  Veterans and service members can also call Mayor

          6  Bloomberg's 311 hotline for assistance.

          7                 In keeping with its mandate to

          8  continually provide access to services to the

          9  veterans and service members of New York City, Mayor

         10  Bloomberg and MOVA will be hosting the Fleet Week

         11  2006, Job Education and Information Fair. This event

         12  will take place 10:30 a.m to 5:00 p.m., Thursday,

         13  May 25, 2006 at the Emigrant Savings Bank Building,

         14  4951 Chambers Street here in Manhattan.

         15                 This event will give New York City

         16  service members and veterans, and service members

         17  visiting for Fleet Week 2006, the opportunity to

         18  receive information on benefits, information and job

         19  opportunities New York City has to offer. It will

         20  also give them the opportunity to apply for jobs and

         21  learn about benefits from City, State, and Federal

         22  agencies.

         23                 Thank you very much for giving me the

         24  opportunity to testify before you regarding

         25  Introduction 298. I would be happy to answer any
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          2  questions you may have regarding my testimony.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you

          4  very much, Ms. Joynes. I have several questions from

          5  your testimony. First and foremost, what kind of

          6  information do you provide veterans currently and

          7  you said in your testimony, you have approximately

          8  300 telephone calls and walk- ins per month.

          9                 MS. JOYNES: Yes, that's an

         10  approximate number.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Do you have a

         12  tracking system? Are these individuals put into a

         13  data base?

         14                 MS. JOYNES: They are manually tracked

         15  for the New York State Division of Veterans Affairs.

         16  And also if anybody calls the 311 hotline, they are

         17  tracked that way as well.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I guess my

         19  question is, MOVA responds to approximately 300

         20  telephone calls. I want to know not what the State

         21  agencies are doing or the City, when these phone

         22  calls come in, say John Q. Army Veteran calls in and

         23  speaks to someone at MOVA. I have an issue with

         24  housing. I have an issue with employment, whatever

         25  the issue is. How does that work? Walk me through
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          2  that process at MOVA.

          3                 MS. JOYNES: Well, it depends on the

          4  veteran. If they are calling for what we call a

          5  case, if they need follow- up assistance. Let's say

          6  a veteran comes in and they need assistance with

          7  finding a job. They come in and they give us their

          8  resume. We do up a folder with a tracking sheet on

          9  what referrals we have made to that veteran and we

         10  keep their contact phone number, their address and

         11  their e- mail address if they voluntarily give it to

         12  us. We give them referrals and then we follow up

         13  with them.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: That's if

         15  they walk in?

         16                 MS. JOYNES: Walk in or phone call,

         17  either way.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Okay. So you

         19  do a walk in or phone call sheet?

         20                 MS. JOYNES: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Write down

         22  their name, their information.

         23                 MS. JOYNES: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: And then you

         25  tell them where they can go to get this help?

                                                            15

          1  COMMITTEE ON VETERANS

          2                 MS. JOYNES: Exactly.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Is that

          4  information in a data base?

          5                 MS. JOYNES: No, we don't currently

          6  have it in a data base at this time. Because we

          7  don't share it with the public.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: So how do you

          9  keep track of the number there?

         10                 MS. JOYNES: That number that you see

         11  there in my testimony, like I said, we have a

         12  physical sheet that we actually write down the names

         13  of veterans if they make a phone call or if they

         14  walk in for assistance. We keep that sheet, in turn,

         15  we do a form where we put just the numbers of those

         16  veterans who have come in. Those numbers are sent to

         17  the New York State Division of Veterans' Affairs.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: A few years

         19  ago, I was not too computer literate, I have to

         20  admit. I actually took a course and now have become

         21  very dependent on computers. I'll just give you my

         22  for instance. When people come into my office or

         23  they call my office, we do an intake sheet, but we

         24  also enter it into a data base. It makes it easier

         25  for us to be able to actually know who came in and
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          2  out. I guess it would be easier from my perspective

          3  if I knew that there was a data base established and

          4  then we can tell where they are coming from, what

          5  age groups and so forth. Maybe the State has that

          6  information.

          7                 MS. JOYNES: We do have like I said,

          8  it is physically written down. On that sheet, it is

          9  the name of the veteran, the era that they served,

         10  whether they made a phone call or they walked in and

         11  the type of services that they are requesting. That

         12  system has been in place since the inception of the

         13  office and again we keep track of that because we do

         14  have to share that information with the State

         15  Division.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: After you

         17  have referred them, let's say, to the State on

         18  whatever issue; it could be housing, it could be

         19  employment, whatever the issue was. You then track

         20  it also with the State?

         21                 MS. JOYNES: Well, it depends. When

         22  you talk about the assistance that is given to the

         23  veteran --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Right.

         25                 MS. JOYNES: No, the assistance is not
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          2  tracked with the State. What's tracked with the

          3  State is the fact that we gave that veteran

          4  services. Let's say John Q walks in --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Once you make

          6  the referral, you pretty much don't know what the

          7  end result was. You made the referral --

          8                 MS. JOYNES: No, we do keep track of

          9  the end result in the case file. Let's say John Q

         10  Public walks in and he says I'm looking for a job or

         11  I need services with social services or I need to

         12  talk to someone about post traumatic stress. Like I

         13  said, we have a tracking, we have a case file sheet

         14  that will put that veterans name on it, their

         15  contact information and we actually do a folder on

         16  that veteran. Now, again, this is a duplicate thing.

         17  We do the folder to follow up on. But the actual

         18  tracking for the State goes on a separate form. You

         19  are talking about doing two things for two different

         20  reasons.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Someone from

         22  your office calls the State and finds out where the

         23  case is or what they are --

         24                 MS. JOYNES: No, no, the case gets

         25  handled through our office. How can I explain this
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          2  to try to simplify it? Let's say someone wanted to

          3  contact Council Member Monserrate and they wanted to

          4  talk about Council Member Monserrate's marine

          5  service. And they were doing a story on you for a

          6  school project. We would do a folder on that

          7  individual asking for that information and that

          8  folder, we would write down the person's name and

          9  contact information. It would be a physical manilla

         10  folder that would have the date that the person came

         11  to our office and made this request.

         12                 Also, on another separate sheet that

         13  goes to the State, that person's name would be

         14  checked off and let's say whether they are a vet or

         15  not would be checked off, what era they served in

         16  would be checked off and what they were looking for

         17  would be checked off. So you are talking about two

         18  different things here. One is a tracking sheet for

         19  just the numbers of the veterans that come in and

         20  that goes to the State. We then would follow up with

         21  that person saying okay, we've given you the number

         22  and the contact information for Council Member

         23  Monserrate's office and once we do that, we note

         24  that in the case file. If we are finished with

         25  giving that person services, we write actually in
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          2  the file that the case was closed and it gets filed

          3  away.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: So in other

          5  words so that I'm very clear, once you have referred

          6  them to either Council Member Monserrate or their

          7  Congressman or the Veterans Hospital or whoever it

          8  is that you referred them to, I'm assuming and

          9  correct me if I'm incorrect --

         10                 MS. JOYNES: Okay.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: -- That you

         12  put that in the file who they were referred to.

         13                 MS. JOYNES: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: And then the

         15  case gets closed.

         16                 MS. JOYNES: Only if the services have

         17  been provided and the veteran has --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: How do you

         19  know the services get provided?

         20                 MS. JOYNES: Because we follow up with

         21  the veteran. We make sure that they have gotten the

         22  services, that they received the services and --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Someone from

         24  your office -- I'm sorry to interject, but I'm

         25  trying to get right to my answer.
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          2                 MS. JOYNES: No, that's okay. That's

          3  all right.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Someone from

          5  your office then calls that veteran within what time

          6  frame?

          7                 MS. JOYNES: It depends on each

          8  individual veteran and the services that they are

          9  seeking. We try to close it out as quickly as

         10  possible. If it means that we have to -- there is no

         11  time frame on it because the needs of each is

         12  different.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: No, I

         14  understand. Each case is different.

         15                 MS. JOYNES: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Different

         17  issues take more time. When is the quickest that you

         18  get back to them and when has it been the longest

         19  period of time. In other words, is it one day, and

         20  one year. What is the window?

         21                 MS. JOYNES: The quickest could be in

         22  just answering the phone call. If someone is calling

         23  to ask about their GI bill benefits and they say my

         24  name is John Smith and I just came back from Iraq

         25  and I want to find out about how to get my GI bill
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          2  benefits. We have our tracking sheet. We write down

          3  their name for the State division and we say okay,

          4  John Smith, welcome back home from OIF/OEF. Here is

          5  the number to the U.S. Department of Veterans

          6  Affairs Regional Office. Here is the address. We

          7  tell them to follow up with them and if they need

          8  any additional help, please give us a call back.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I got it.

         10                 MS. JOYNES: Now let's say John Smith

         11  comes back from OIF/OEF and he is a reservist in the

         12  New York City area. He was renting an apartment

         13  somewhere in Queens. He had to give up his lease and

         14  he is having a problem getting services again. That

         15  may take a little bit longer. It may take a couple

         16  of days. It depends on the needs of the veteran and

         17  a case file will be made for that vet and we will

         18  track to make sure that he got the follow up.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Your are

         20  testifying to me that after the veteran comes to

         21  your office or calls your office, you make a

         22  referral, you prepare a manilla file. Then within a

         23  certain amount of time, you then call that veteran

         24  back to see what his services have been.

         25                 MS. JOYNES: Yes, we constantly keep

                                                            22

          1  COMMITTEE ON VETERANS

          2  track and make sure that veteran has been served,

          3  yes. It could be daily phone calls. It could be

          4  weekly phone calls. It just depends on the need.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I have more

          6  questions than I did when I began. I didn't even

          7  know you were doing this, to be honest with you.

          8  That's a good thing. How many members do you have on

          9  your staff?

         10                 MS. JOYNES: Three, myself included.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: So you have

         12  two staff members under you?

         13                 MS. JOYNES: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: If you are

         15  handling 300 cases a month and there is five working

         16  days in the month, around 20 working days.

         17                 MS. JOYNES: That's assuming that

         18  we're working Monday through Friday, 9:00 to 5:00,

         19  but we don't.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I understand

         21  that. But basically when you do referrals and stuff

         22  like that, it is basically business hours. Right?

         23                 MS. JOYNES: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I know you do

         25  the parades and you do the anniversaries and you do
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          2  the Intrepid and you do probably a lot more than 40

          3  hours a week. I'm sure of it because I've seen you

          4  at a lot of events.

          5                 MS. JOYNES: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: All right? I

          7  know that.

          8                 MS. JOYNES: Okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: And the Mayor

         10  has done well for having someone who has the energy

         11  that you have. My question is, if you are talking

         12  about 300 a month, 20 work days and I wasn't too

         13  good at math, but that's 70 a week, 15 cases a day

         14  average. I'm not that good at math.

         15                 MS. JOYNES: On average, that's

         16  approximate.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I was always

         18  a 65, C minus student in math. I was good at History

         19  and English. I have to say that it sounds like to me

         20  that you have an incredible workload.

         21                 MS. JOYNES: Yes, we do and we don't

         22  take it lightly.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: If you are

         24  getting 15 cases a day and I don't expect that the

         25  Executive Director is handling case work because I
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          2  don't think that would be efficient for any top

          3  agency leader to be doing case work.

          4                 MS. JOYNES: Well, this person does,

          5  yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I hear what

          7  you are saying. Watch what you say now because I

          8  have to say, I don't think the Mayor of the City of

          9  New York would want his agency heads to do case

         10  work. I don't think he would want that. I wouldn't

         11  want that. I don't think my colleagues would want

         12  that. There should be staff assigned to do case

         13  work. In essence, at most, you have two members of

         14  your staff that are handling an average of 15 cases

         15  per day, doing referrals, and then doing follow up.

         16  I have to say that's a tremendous amount of case

         17  work. I'm not going to say anything more to that.

         18  I'm going to allow my colleagues who have questions

         19  and then I'll come back to me. Council Member Tony

         20  Avella.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Thank you, Mr.

         22  Chair. I'm going to follow up on some of the things

         23  that the Chair just asked you about. First of all,

         24  some of my comments are going to be directed against

         25  the office, not you personally. I want you to
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          2  understand that.

          3                 MS. JOYNES: Okay.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: In terms of

          5  just following up on what he was bringing to your

          6  attention, let me get this clear, when you say the

          7  word referral; a veteran calls up and says I have a

          8  housing problem. Do you then tell them what agency

          9  to go to or do you call the agency?

         10                 MS. JOYNES: No, we tell them what

         11  agency to go to. Let's say if someone is looking for

         12  a place a live. If they are looking to rent an

         13  apartment, we refer them to Housing Preservation and

         14  Development and we give them leads on how to look

         15  for an apartment in the City on the HPD, the Mayor's

         16  Affordable Housing Initiative, we have that and --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: And then you

         18   --

         19                 MS. JOYNES: -- Then we make a

         20  referral, yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: I'm sorry, I

         22  didn't mean to cut you off. And then you follow up

         23  to see if they actually got --

         24                 MS. JOYNES: Yes, yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: I guess I have
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          2  a real problem with that because when somebody, for

          3  example, when somebody calls my office whether it is

          4  State, federal, even if they don't live in the

          5  district, they get help. They don't get the run

          6  around. I think your office should be there to do

          7  the running around for them. Not that they have to

          8  call this number, call that number, they don't have

          9  to -- when you think about it, I mean, they are

         10  veterans because they served our country. Some of

         11  them didn't come back, some of them came back

         12  handicapped, disabled and we're making them do all

         13  the work. I think it is the very least your office

         14  can do and I get into the other aspect that you

         15  don't have enough money to do it, should be you do

         16  the leg work for them.

         17                 When people call my office, I don't

         18  say, hey, call this agency. That is what my staff

         19  does. And that's what I do. I just don't think the

         20  veterans of this City should be given the run around

         21  which you may think that's a good job giving them a

         22  referral number, I don't. You should be doing that

         23  work.

         24                 MS. JOYNES: That's where I have to

         25  disagree with you Council Member Avella.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: I didn't hear

          3  your answer.

          4                 MS. JOYNES: That's where I have to

          5  disagree because if you are talking about meeting

          6  the needs of a veteran, if a veteran comes to me and

          7  says that I'm looking for a lead on where to look

          8  for an apartment, I cannot tell that veteran where

          9  to live. We give them -- it's just like anybody

         10  else. I'm a veteran who returned to New York City

         11  after serving and when I came home and looked for

         12  assistance, I would not have expected anybody from

         13  any level of government to take my hand and show me

         14  where to find an apartment. To give a reference and

         15  you go out and find your place to live or find

         16  benefits, if you are given the leads to do so,

         17  that's what an agency is expected to do.

         18                 As a veteran, like I said, the whole

         19  thing is getting the service and it is incumbent

         20  upon that veteran to follow through. If they are

         21  disabled and they are not able to make it out to an

         22  office, we do accommodate the special needs for

         23  veterans. But a able body veteran who is looking for

         24  assistance whether it is employment, or healthcare

         25  or if its looking for an apartment, yes, we do give
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          2  the referrals and we work with other agencies on

          3  different level of government to give them that

          4  information.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Given the

          6  example you mentioned, which is different from, I

          7  think, the overall complaints that you sort of get.

          8  If somebody calls up and asks for help for housing,

          9  you do have HPD and they have a number of programs.

         10                 MS. JOYNES: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: There are non-

         12  profit organizations --

         13                 MS. JOYNES: Yes, there are and we

         14  work with them as well.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Why couldn't

         16  you call some of the non- profit organizations and

         17  say, we got a phone call from so and so, would you

         18  call them? Can you see what you can do for them? And

         19  then follow up. At least you're doing some of the

         20  leg work.

         21                 MS. JOYNES: But that depends on the

         22  veteran's situation. If you are just talking about a

         23  vet who is just looking for, I need to find a place

         24  to live, that's something different. If you are

         25  talking about a veteran that is homeless and is a
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          2  shelter system, we do do that. We do work with

          3  community based organizations. Again, the services

          4  that we give to the veterans of New York City are

          5  germane to the individual veterans. We can't

          6  generalize here in this hearing exactly how we

          7  deliver services to veterans. Because just like we

          8  have 348,000 veterans in New York City, the needs of

          9  each veteran are tailored to that veteran; how we

         10  talk care of them. So it is kind of hard to say, we

         11  do one particular thing for everybody in general.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: I would agree

         13  with you that probably veterans concerns are harder

         14  cases to resolve because they are much more

         15  complicated than the average citizen calling up

         16  about a pot hole and that's exactly why you should

         17  be doing more than just giving the referral. I mean,

         18  I could probably go into a number of examples. I

         19  think your answer sort of gave us a very clear

         20  picture of what you're doing and what you're not

         21  doing. The last time I heard, the budget for your

         22  office was $380,000. Is that still the budget?

         23                 MS. JOYNES: That never was the

         24  budget. I don't know where you got that figure from.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: I think it
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          2  came up at one of these hearings.

          3                 MS. JOYNES: It didn't come from my

          4  office.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: How many staff

          6  people?

          7                 MS. JOYNES: We have three staff

          8  people and I'm one of the three.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: And you're one

         10  of the three?

         11                 MS. JOYNES: Yes. Our total budget is

         12  $184,548.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: It is even

         14  less than we thought. Now, given that budget, how

         15  you can possibly and again this is not against you

         16  personally, it's more towards the office and I got

         17  to say the Administration, how could you possibly

         18  handle issues relating to 348,000 veterans.

         19                 MS. JOYNES: Well --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Let me finish.

         21  That is absolutely impossible. You mention here in

         22  your own testimony while we were always interested

         23  in finding ways to improve our delivery of services

         24  to the veterans community and then you go onto why

         25  you don't like the bill. We tried last year, the
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          2  Council and especially this Committee under the

          3  leadership of the Chair to increase your budget.

          4  That never happened. That should be the first thing

          5  you should be doing. I find it fascinating that you

          6  are criticizing the bill, but you're not doing

          7  anything yourselves to increase the budget and get

          8  more staff. Council Member Monserrate is introducing

          9  this bill because of the failure to act by the

         10  Administration. Again, not you personally, but this

         11  has got to change. You cannot serve the veterans of

         12  this City with $100,000. That is ridiculous and it

         13  is an insult. I'm sorry, it's an insult. Your

         14  testimony (clapping) --

         15                 MS. JOYNES: Council Member, I would

         16  like to respond.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: One more

         18  comment and then you can.

         19                 MS. JOYNES: Sure.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Part of your

         21  testimony for them to call 311 is insulting. I am

         22  sorry. That is insulting.

         23                 MS. JOYNES: Now that are finished

         24  Council Member, let me respond. We didn't say we

         25  were criticizing the bill, we would like to look
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          2  further in. We're not going to refuse money for

          3  services for veterans of New York City. What I

          4  stated in my testimony is that we would love to be

          5  able to do this to enhance services for veterans,

          6  but you do have to look further into how you are

          7  going to use those monies for services for the

          8  veterans of the five boroughs. Again, like I stated

          9  in my testimony, veterans get benefits from

         10  different levels of government. Benefits that

         11  veterans are given are given by the Federal, State

         12  and City levels.

         13                 When you are talking about giving

         14  money to enhance services in the Mayor's Office of

         15  Veterans' Affairs, yes, we would love to do that.

         16  But we will have to look into how that money gets

         17  distributed and how we use it. Because again, we

         18  have to be responsible on what we do and how we use

         19  that money. To say that 311 is not good for giving

         20  information to the veterans of New York City, that's

         21  just one of the ways how information is given. Like

         22  I said, we don't do the service to veterans for New

         23  York City on our own as the Mayor's Office of

         24  Veterans' Affairs, we work with different levels of

         25  government and we work with community based
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          2  organizations.

          3                 Again, this office, the fact that I

          4  do have a case load, that is very deep and Council

          5  Member Monserrate is very concerned about that the

          6  fact that an agency head is doing this, well as a

          7  veteran of the marine corp and as a New Yorker, I

          8  don't find it insulting to actually serve the

          9  veterans of New York City. I take it on as honor and

         10  this is something that we do.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I just wanted

         12  to say this that in no way do I think that you

         13  personally doing case work is in any way demeaning

         14  towards the case work or to you. What I saying is

         15  that I believe that as a business practice, the

         16  Administration or anyone would not expect an agency

         17  head to do case work. The same way Council Member

         18  Tony Avella and I should not be expected to do case

         19  work in our district office. Sometimes we pick up

         20  the phone and we actually write a note and we call a

         21  agency head. But by and large, there is staff that

         22  is suppose to be qualified and trained to do case

         23  work. It should not be the principle of the agency.

         24  I can't see the Chairman of the Housing Authority

         25  doing case work for the residents of housing. I
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          2  can't see the top head of the Health Department or

          3  the Health and Hospital Corporation doing case work

          4  or patient work for a specific individuals that need

          5  help.

          6                 The role of the agency head is to

          7  supervise and ensure that the staff under them are

          8  doing that work. I think now being the Veterans

          9  Chair for the second year that (and I know I see my

         10  good friend, Mr. Mullen here with us) that the

         11  Administration and the Mayor has heard our plea for

         12  the last two years that there needs to be a greater

         13  investment into servicing our veterans. I think that

         14  the mere fact that your agency is funded to the tune

         15  of $180,000 which is substantially less than the

         16  Council Office and yet services 350,000 veterans in

         17  this City is incredible. All it shows me is to be

         18  honest with you, though I have a lot of faith in

         19  your capabilities that the constraints of your

         20  budget make your office incapable quite frankly,

         21  physical incapable of delivering the types of

         22  services that our veterans need.

         23                 I wanted to go to your testimony

         24  because on page two in the third paragraph, you

         25  outlined every borough in New York City has a
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          2  military presence and you mentioned several bases

          3  and so forth that provide a base for reservists and

          4  national guards. These bases as I understand being

          5  also a former reservists are not providing services

          6  to veterans. I don't think a veteran could just --

          7                 MS. JOYNES: No, but they do provide

          8  services to the family members of the service

          9  members that are attached to those units.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Right. The

         11  service members --

         12                 MS. JOYNES: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: -- And the

         14  guardsmen and the reservists, but not the other

         15  veterans. In your testimony, currently the federal

         16  government has vet centers throughout the five

         17  boroughs. They have a vet center in each borough,

         18  the federal government?

         19                 MS. JOYNES: Yes, they do. These is

         20  two in Manhattan.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Can you tell

         22  me where the one in Queens is?

         23                 MS. JOYNES: I would have to get back

         24  to you on that. I don't know it off the top of my

         25  head, but we do have them listed on the web site. We
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          2  do have the information there. Anybody who calls our

          3  office, we do get that information, yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Council

          5  Member Avella, wanted to make another statement, but

          6  before he does that, I just wanted to say I think

          7  that the spirit of this bill clearly is also to

          8  bring attention to the lack, underscore, lack of

          9  services that our City provides to veterans. I

         10  opened up my statement today of this hearing saying

         11  that I don't believe, I don't think there is one --

         12  I haven't met one veteran in the two years that I

         13  have been Chair of this Committee or just in general

         14  terms before I was Chair of this Committee, I have

         15  not met one veteran, one veteran advocate. Even

         16  employees of the State Veterans' Affairs Division, I

         17  haven't met one of them that says there is enough

         18  services for veterans today. Not one person has

         19  every told me that. I'm talking about professionals,

         20  case workers, veterans, advocacy groups, the VFW

         21  halls, the American Legion, not one.

         22                 I began to think if I speak to all

         23  these hundreds of thousands of people who are

         24  concerned about veterans issues, who are veterans,

         25  who know a veteran, I can't believe that everyone is
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          2  wrong. I can't believe that everyone is wrong. I

          3  think that our City should provide services. We

          4  provide services and I'm actually proud of this,

          5  even though many times, I criticize the Mayor and

          6  even internally I agitate debate on providing more

          7  services, this City provides tremendous service to

          8  the citizens and the residents of this City in

          9  comparison to other municipalities. We do. We do.

         10                 But somewhere along the lines, the

         11  veterans have never factored in. We fund daycare, we

         12  fund Meals on Wheels, we fund park improvements. We

         13  give away millions of dollars to museums and

         14  cultural affairs. We do so much and that's all good.

         15  I support that. I want to be very clear about that.

         16  But somehow the veterans don't get not even a

         17  fraction of the same type of service or support from

         18  this government. Now you make an argument in your

         19  testimony about duplicating services, but the City

         20  duplicates services already. We have Human Rights

         21  Commission. We have a state division of human rights

         22  and we have a federal EEOC. They all do the same

         23  exact thing. They take complaints of discrimination,

         24  City, State, and Federal.

         25                 We have other agencies that deal with
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          2  environment and so forth, environmental protection.

          3  We have City police, we have State police, we have

          4  federal police and sometimes there is overlapping

          5  jurisdictions between prosecution on the state,

          6  federal or local level. We have all types of

          7  overlap. To try to say, to testify or to put out

          8  there from the Administration because you represent

          9  the Administration. You are not the Mayor, but you

         10  are representing him today in this hearing. You are

         11  basically testifying to me that we don't need;

         12  perhaps we don't need this because we are

         13  duplicating services. Again, I think you are a very

         14  nice person and I think that you are very

         15  professional and I've seen you very active. I know

         16  that you have a very tough job to do because you

         17  don't have the resources to do your mission

         18  completely. I'm sorry for that. But now I have to be

         19  the Chairman of the Veterans Committee and I have to

         20  advocate for my veterans.

         21                 MS. JOYNES: That's okay. Go ahead.

         22  I'll respond to that, yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I have to say

         24  that this bill and the initiative that I'm

         25  sponsoring along with many of colleagues and the
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          2  members of this Committee is that tempting to right

          3  something that is not right. I don't think that you

          4  can argue to me that our City can't do more for our

          5  veterans. I respect what you are doing. I know you

          6  are doing some case work. I know you are doing other

          7  things. But I think that even you would have to

          8  admit that we can do more for our veterans.

          9                 MS. JOYNES: Okay, Council Member. In

         10  response to what you have said, like I said, we

         11  always welcome more funding to work in the veterans

         12  community. But when I say that we don't want to have

         13  to duplicate what's already out there, like I said,

         14  benefits for veterans do come from three different

         15  levels of government and we can definitely use

         16  funding for more initiatives for the veterans

         17  community. But we definitely need to look at how

         18  those funds that the Council is going to give those

         19  funds to this office to service the needs of the

         20  veterans of New York, we will gladly welcome the

         21  funds, but we will look into being responsible on

         22  how those funds are utilized. Because again --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Absolutely.

         24                 MS. JOYNES: -- Benefits are given on

         25  three different levels of government.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Absolutely. I

          3  agree with you wholeheartedly.

          4                 MS. JOYNES: Like I said, I will stick

          5  by that because we have three different levels of

          6  government that do have to meet the needs of the

          7  veterans of New York City. Believe it or not, we are

          8  the front runners in the country on delivering

          9  services to the veterans, believe it or not.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: As well we

         11  should be.

         12                 MS. JOYNES: Yes, very much so. We

         13  work, we don't do it alone in the City of New York.

         14  We do it with our counterparts on different levels

         15  of government and with community based

         16  organizations.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I just wanted

         18  to say again in closing that I think when you are

         19  talk about our counterpart, the biggest one being

         20  the federal government, I have to just tell you that

         21  I am extremely suspicious of their real dedication

         22  to the veterans in New York City when they keep

         23  talking about closing the hospital on 23rd Street. I

         24  really do. I have to tell you we can spend billions

         25  and billions of dollars in Iraq, but we can't keep
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          2  the most important veterans hospital open in the

          3  northeast which is incredible to me.

          4                 MS. JOYNES: We definitely share your

          5  look on that issue. As you know, Mayor Bloomberg has

          6  come out and spoken to Secretary Nicholson

          7  (phonetic) about keeping both the hospitals open in

          8  New York City and keeping services to veterans

          9  delivered. We are definitely in agreement on that

         10  issue.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I appreciate

         12  that.

         13                 MS. JOYNES: But I definitely welcome

         14  the Council Member to invite a representative from

         15  the federal government and from the State Division

         16  of Veterans Affairs to speak on the benefits and the

         17  assistance that they give to the veterans of New

         18  York City. Because they do work just as diligently

         19  as the Mayor's Office of Veterans' Affairs on

         20  services.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: We will

         22  definitely do that. Council Member Tony Avella.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Actually, Mr.

         24  Chair, your last comments were right on mark on what

         25  I was going to bring up in reference to her
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          2  testimony about duplication of services. I also

          3  question whether or not the state and the federal

          4  government is doing enough. But even if they were,

          5  what the heck is wrong with New York City doing the

          6  same thing and taking care of our veterans. That's

          7  my last comment. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          8                 MS. JOYNES: Like I said, Council

          9  Member, I'm not in disagreement. Like I said, we

         10  would definitely welcome additional funding to

         11  assist veterans of New York City. But we will look

         12  at how to best use those funds and we definitely

         13  welcome any monies that the Council wants to present

         14  to this office to service veterans of New York City.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I want to say

         16  thank you for your testimony and I would also like

         17  to send a message to the Administration, in

         18  particular our Mayor, the leader of this great City

         19  that at any time that he clearly has the power to

         20  increase your budget dramatically and instantly,

         21  anytime he wants to ensure that this initiative goes

         22  forward so that we can have these resource centers,

         23  I would gladly stand with him and praise him for

         24  that. Since he hasn't done it, we have a City

         25  Council initiative that's going forward and a bill
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          2  that I and my colleagues have introduced to bring

          3  this issue finally to a point where there is some

          4  resolution. The reality is that there has been no

          5  resolution. There has been no additional funding.

          6  Not to your office or for the creation of these

          7  service centers. I have to say again to the Mayor of

          8  the City of New York that on this issue for the

          9  veterans, you've been MIA. And we need services.

         10  Thank you very much.

         11                 MS. JOYNES: You're very welcome. This

         12  introduction will be brought back to the Mayor to

         13  look in and I'm pretty sure he will be getting back

         14  with the Council Member. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you

         16  very much. Thank you. I want to acknowledge that

         17  Council Member James has joined us. We have a lot of

         18  panelist here that are testifying. I'm going to do

         19  the following. We are going to call up panels. There

         20  is going to be some rules here, ladies and

         21  gentlemen. We are going to have to shorten the

         22  testimony time to two minutes. You have two minutes

         23  to make your presentation because there is a lot of

         24  you that want to speak and we want to get as many of

         25  you on the record here. We are going to call up Dr.
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          2  Raphael K. Works from the Veterans Association of

          3  America; Christine DeLisa and John Sollazzo. State

          4  your name, the organization, please speak clearly

          5  and we will begin in one moment. Two minutes. Okay,

          6  please begin.

          7                 DR. WORKS: Dr. Raphael K. Works,

          8  Chairman, CEO and founder of the Veterans

          9  Association of America. Good afternoon, Chairman

         10  Hiram Monserrate and other Council Members. It's a

         11  pleasure to be here today to testify at this

         12  hearing. I thought the information that was provided

         13  just a few minutes ago from our illustrious

         14  Executive Director of the Mayor's Office of

         15  Veterans' Affairs was quite interesting to say the

         16  least. It does not state that I'm definitely in

         17  agreement with it, but I just said it was definitely

         18  very, very interesting.

         19                 I take this opportunity to call to

         20  your attention to what can and should be the most

         21  vital and effective initiative of this decade

         22  designed to favorably impact the economic,

         23  political, and social posture of veterans in this

         24  City and this nation. To that end, the recently

         25  established Veterans Association of America, Inc.,
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          2  was created with the laser focused mission of

          3  promoting and securing preferential rights and

          4  treatment due to all service members that are

          5  routinely compromised.

          6                 The mission can only be achieved by

          7  positioning ourselves at the front line, which is

          8  anywhere there is a veteran and his or her family

          9  with a need that prevents the family from leading a

         10  productive life. It is our intent to initially focus

         11  our resources and energy in the five boroughs of New

         12  York City where large numbers of veterans reside and

         13  where resources should go to meet their most

         14  pressing needs. Careful attention will be directed

         15  towards the following objectives.

         16                 1) To establish productive programs

         17  of legal, medical, business and housing ownership,

         18  family outreach, employment services, and

         19  educational training focused for the betterment of

         20  all veterans in every branch of service. 2) To help

         21  veterans focus on developing stronger relations with

         22  their families and children that have grown apart,

         23  but seek to re- establish relations and build on a

         24  better foundation. 3) To initiate the Adopt- a-

         25  Soldier program that establishes linking soldiers
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          2  with supportive citizens and elements across the

          3  international and continental United States.

          4                 4) Create a vast database for veteran

          5  membership and provide responses to questions that

          6  are directly affecting their day- to- day living. 5)

          7  Develop a family awareness and outreach that focuses

          8  on nurturing children of veterans and help to

          9  resolve domestic abuse that may be present within

         10  the family structure. 6) To assist in the medical

         11  screening of veterans and family members by

         12  improving the health status and quality of life in

         13  each. 7) Provide sustainable counseling and referral

         14  services for veterans that have emotional,

         15  psychological, and other Post Traumatic Stress

         16  Disorders.

         17                 8) Expand housing and employment

         18  opportunities by seeking to develop residents

         19  through the Veterans Development Corporation, a

         20  subsidiary of the Veterans Association of America,

         21  across New York City's five boroughs and throughout

         22  the continental United States.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you

         24  very much for your testimony.

         25                 MS. DELISA: Good afternoon. My name
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          2  is Christine DeLisa and I have Staten Island

          3  Supports Our Soldiers Resource Center. First of all,

          4  I would like to thank you for having me appear here.

          5  I spoke to you prior in March of 2005 on PTSD. And I

          6  spoke to you as a parent of a son that returned

          7  after 18 months in Iraq. A lot has changed since

          8  that time. I have submitted a proposal for a

          9  resource center for which started out as a support

         10  group for family and friends of our military. I

         11  began a resource center based on the needs of our

         12  returning vets.

         13                 For the last six months, our resource

         14  center was run out of my home with the help of

         15  friends and a few fund raisers, we were able to open

         16  a small office in a realtor's office which has a

         17  grand opening April 17, of this year. With the

         18  support of Staten Island families and elected

         19  officials, we have started a resource center which

         20  meets all of the criteria that is stipulated in

         21  Section 1, Section 14 of the New York charter

         22  subdivision E for Veterans Resource Centers.

         23                 On the enclosed brochure, you will

         24  see that our office is centrally located to bridges

         25  and the Staten Island Ferry, as well as being right
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          2  on a bus route. We do not charge veterans for our

          3  assistance and our information is quite up to date.

          4  We have names and numbers of private as well as

          5  public services available not only to our vets but

          6  also to their families. Housing is addressed because

          7  our office is located in a realtor's office, and

          8  they work with us unconditionally.

          9                 We have many companies that will give

         10  our veterans first choice in the job market as well

         11  as educational assistance in pursuing their job. We

         12  have the cooperation of numerous veteran groups as

         13  well as the backing of elected officials. We have

         14  knowledge of up to date financial assistance and tax

         15  exemptions that was published in order to give the

         16  information to our veterans. I have submitted in my

         17  packet copies of some of the organizations that are

         18  willing to work with us. What we need to make this

         19  100 percent successful would be the financial

         20  backing of your Committee. Just a little note on a

         21  personal basis, my son has a job, found a nice girl,

         22  plans to get married in 2008 and yes, I take credit

         23  for it since I knew what had to be done to make it

         24  an easier transition for him.

         25                 Since Staten Island Supports Our

                                                            49

          1  COMMITTEE ON VETERANS

          2  Soldiers Resource Center is up and running, I

          3  propose that we be the test resource center for all

          4  boroughs and we would then be able to show the other

          5  boroughs the pluses instead of the minus to make

          6  this a positive entity for all our veterans. In

          7  closing, I would like to say thank you to Speaker

          8  Christine Quinn, Chair Monserrate and the Veterans

          9  Committee, as well as City Council in pursuing

         10  resource centers for our veterans. Thank you.

         11                 MR. SOLLAZZO: My name is John

         12  Sollazzo. I'm no stranger here in the City Council.

         13  I'm a retired firefighter. I retired out of Engine

         14  160, Rescue 5 in Staten Island. I've put in 21 years

         15  in the Fire Department and I'm out at least 22

         16  years. I am the President of Staten Island and I am

         17  the national president. Good afternoon, Chairman

         18  Monserrate and Committee Members. My name is John

         19  Sollazzo.

         20                 Thank you for allowing me to take

         21  this opportunity to speak with you on this most

         22  important subject. To amend the local law in

         23  relation to creating a military veteran resource

         24  center where veterans can receive information on

         25  programs and services helpful to veterans, Section

                                                            50

          1  COMMITTEE ON VETERANS

          2  1, Section 14 of the New York City charter to amend

          3  it by adding a new subdivision E to read, E Veterans

          4  Resource Centers.

          5                 I am a veteran and I served right

          6  here on the USS Intrepid right here in New York.

          7  Upon returning to Staten Island, I saw the guidance

          8  that was needed for the returning of the veterans. I

          9  am here to testify that an office on the borough of

         10  Staten Island would be a much needed asset. Chairman

         11  Monserrate and members of the City Council and the

         12  staff and members of this bill, on behalf of me and

         13  other veterans, I would like to thank you for

         14  addressing this matter on such a diligent matter.

         15                 I am the President of Retired

         16  Firefighters on Staten Island and hold the title of

         17  president on the national level as well. I also

         18  belong to the Cichon Veterans Post on Staten Island.

         19  There is a medical facility, federal medical

         20  facility on Staten Island on South Avenue which I

         21  know personally and has saved many lives of many of

         22  our veterans. As you might know, Staten Island has a

         23  population of between 450 and 500,000 people. A

         24  large portion of this population are veterans.

         25                 I know that Staten Island would
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          2  embrace a facility such as Staten Island Supports

          3  Our Soldiers Resource Center. I have been at their

          4  office. You've just heard her speak and watched how

          5  admirable they have embraced the veteran community.

          6  And the dedication they show in upholding this

          7  criteria that this bill so suggests. I believe that

          8  this facility should seriously be taken into

          9  consideration since they have already set up an

         10  office and has managed to see our returning soldiers

         11  in the capacity that this bill so requires. It seems

         12  that they knew what was needed to put into play. If

         13  I, myself, personally can be of assistance and help

         14  this organization and this bill, I would be more

         15  than willing to be helpful.

         16                 A young veteran came home from Kuwait

         17  about two years ago and when he returned home, his

         18  job was gone. There was no one there to address

         19  these issues and he became deeply depressed. If a

         20  resource center was there at that time, I believe

         21  that the depression due to the loss of his job would

         22  have been avoided and he would have been able to get

         23  on with his life. On closing again, I would like to

         24  thank speaker Christine Quinn, Chairman Monserrate

         25  and the entire City Council that are on this bill
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          2  and the veterans council and board members know that

          3  the amendment of this local law to include Veterans

          4  Resource Center in each borough would be justified

          5  as our veteran population will be increasingly daily

          6  with the turnover of this Iraq campaign humanitarian

          7  assistance.

          8                 Council Member, I was very impressed

          9  with the City Council aggressiveness in the Council

         10  Members here such as I sat there and the applause is

         11  well deserved to you Council Members for taking this

         12  issue and caring. Because I see myself with my fire

         13  fighters and different bills that we try to bring

         14  them up and I salute you. I salute you. God bless

         15  you and thank you very much. If I can be any

         16  assistance to you, I will be there for you. Thank

         17  you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: I appreciate

         19  that, Mr. Sollazzo. It is very kind of you to say.

         20  We appreciate the service you gave to this country.

         21  I guess, Ms. DeLisa?

         22                 MS. DELISA: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: From your

         24  experience as a Director of one of the Veterans

         25  Resource Centers, could you give us an idea the
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          2  impact that your center may have had on a veteran's

          3  life?

          4                 MS. DELISA: First of all, Staten

          5  Island Supports Our Soldiers Resource Center is not

          6  Federally funded, State funded or City funded. It is

          7  funded by our fund raisers that we do. The direct

          8  impact, well we opened up officially last week.

          9  We've been working for six months. We've helped 22

         10  soldiers to date. We've been able to get them

         11  medical care. We've been able to place 12 in jobs,

         12  union jobs, so that they are permanently established

         13  and we've helped them get their education back on

         14  track.

         15                 We personally do a hands on. We do

         16  not call up other organizations. We go out and meet

         17  different job sites that are willing to give our

         18  veterans jobs and we research them so that when we

         19  tell them, you can get a job here, we know it's the

         20  actuality. It's not just a guess and a hope.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: I'm sure there

         22  has been more than that too.

         23                 MS. DELISA: Well, I can account for

         24  22.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Helping hand
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          2   --

          3                 MS. DELISA: Absolutely.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:-

          5  psychological, not professional, but psychological

          6  help.

          7                 MS. DELISA: Every soldier who needs

          8  help calls us up and they come into our office and

          9  we have a ten by ten office. We are very large. If

         10  there is more than three of us, we are like on top

         11  of each other. But it's okay. We sit there and we

         12  first talk to them face to face so that we know what

         13  they want, what they need, and how we can be of

         14  service to them. Before they leave, they walk away

         15  with a smile on their face because they have some

         16  hope. Because we are there for them 100 percent.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Thank you. I'm

         18  going to turn it over to the Chair who we have

         19  conflicts sometimes. We have two meetings at the

         20  same time. I've got to go to that one. The reason

         21  you saw me, this was breakfast, brunch, and dinner.

         22  Because I have three hours of Committee prior to

         23  this meeting.

         24                 MS. DELISA: Thank you, sir.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you
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          2  very much. We're going to call up the next panel.

          3  Denny Meyer, President of Aver- New York; James P.

          4  Reilly and Johnnie White. Again, we are going to

          5  limiting to two minutes. I ask everyone to adhere to

          6  that. If you are submitting written testimony, you

          7  can shorten it up because we will be having the

          8  testimony for the record. We will begin with Denny.

          9                 MR. MEYER: Good afternoon. You know

         10  me as President of American Veterans for Equal

         11  Rights. Today, I speak representing a sister

         12  organization, Military Community Services Network.

         13  MCSN commends the New York City Council Veterans

         14  Committee and Chairman Monserrate for introducing

         15  the proposal to establish Veteran Resource Centers

         16  in the City of New York. We endorse and support this

         17  proposal to provide assistance to our patriotic

         18  veterans.

         19                 Military Community Services Network

         20  is a national organization providing social services

         21  support and resource referrals to lesbian, gay,

         22  bisexual and transgender service members, veterans

         23  and their families. MCSN also provides sensitivity

         24  training and acts as a bridge to social service

         25  resources to service providers and others working
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          2  with our veterans to provide assistance and a

          3  solution to some problems rather than complaining.

          4  So that New York City veterans resource centers may

          5  comply with New York City non- discrimination

          6  statutes, Military Community Services Network offers

          7  to provide sensitivity training and ongoing resource

          8  referral support to veteran resource centers in the

          9  City of New York and its personnel working with

         10  clients who are, among others, LGBT.

         11                 It is estimated, by the Urban

         12  Institute that there are currently over 17,000 LGBT

         13  veterans living in the New York City Metropolitan

         14  region. This population of patriotic veterans

         15  consists of those who have served in combat,

         16  conflicts from WWII to the current returnees from

         17  Iraq and Afghanistan. PTSD, particularly for Vietnam

         18  era and current conflict veterans is exacerbated by

         19  the isolation and severe anxiety resulting from the

         20  federal, Don't Ask, Don't Tell policy which requires

         21  service members to not disclose their orientation to

         22  avoid discharge or extreme harassment. PTSD and

         23  other medical and mental health issues, therefore,

         24  require specific treatment referrals as they would

         25  for any other minority group.
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          2                 Attached to this hearing testimony is

          3  a detailed description of the mission and services

          4  provided by MCSN and MCSN looks forward to carrying

          5  out its commitment to provide training and referral

          6  support to the proposed New York City's veteran

          7  resource centers. Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you

          9  very much. Please.

         10                 MR. WHITE: Thank you. Forgive me for

         11  not having copies of my statement. I was not

         12  prepared to speak today until I heard the Executive

         13  Director of the Mayor's Office of Veterans Affairs

         14  speak. My dealings with them --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Speak into

         16  the mic please.

         17                 MR. REILLY: My dealings with the

         18  Mayor's Office of Veterans Affairs is somewhat at

         19  odds with what I heard the Executive Director speak

         20  to this afternoon. The Mayor's Office of Veterans

         21  Affairs Executive Director may not agree with this

         22  proposal. American Veterans for Equal Rights does.

         23  From the Mayor's Office of Veterans Affairs

         24  Executive Director's testimony, I question her

         25  offices capability to carry out this program in that
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          2  she is opposed to it; is unwilling to carry it out

          3  and does not appear to comprehend the needs nor the

          4  methods required to help New York City's veterans. I

          5  suggest that the Council assure that a capable and

          6  willing City agency carry out this program. Her

          7  absence to hear veterans testimony now speaks

          8  volumes. Thank you very much.

          9                 MR. WHITE: Good afternoon to the

         10  Chair, the Council Members, veterans communities,

         11  guests and veterans. My name is Johnnie White and I

         12  here to represent of the Coalition of Veterans in

         13  Pain and Distress. I'm honored to appear before you

         14  to testify on the subject of the creation of

         15  Military Veteran Resource Centers. The Coalition for

         16  Veterans in Pain and Distress which consist of

         17  veteran organizations, veterans, their family

         18  members and concerned citizens has advocated on

         19  behalf of our nations veterans for several years in

         20  the New York area.

         21                 Recently, we met and have become a

         22  member of the New York State Council of Veteran

         23  Organization; a group in Albany that advocates at

         24  the State level on behalf of veterans. We are

         25  dedicated to the mission of improving the quality of
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          2  life for all veterans. What we have noticed over the

          3  years in the veteran community, we are facing a

          4  serious crisis. The Department of Veterans Affairs

          5  Report known as the Community Homeless Assessment,

          6  Local Education, and Networking Report noted that

          7  over 250,000 veterans are homeless on any given

          8  night and more than 500,000 veterans experience

          9  homelessness over the course of a year.

         10                 However, the Department of Veteran

         11  Affairs through its Homeless and Treatment

         12  Assistance Network provides service to approximately

         13  100,000 homeless veterans annually; leaving about

         14  400,00 veterans or 80 percent of all homeless

         15  veterans without any support services. The vast

         16  majority of homeless veterans are male,

         17  approximately 98 percent. Most of them come from

         18  poor, disadvantage communities. Forty- five percent

         19  suffer from mental illness and more than half have

         20  substance abuse problems. In addition, 52 percent of

         21  all homeless veterans report having one or more

         22  chronic health conditions.

         23                 We believe that many of the City,

         24  State and Federal agencies who are responsible for

         25  providing services to veterans have shown that the
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          2  lack the capacity to do so in any meaningful way.

          3  What we would like to see is more funding,

          4  resources, and support for community veteran service

          5  organizations that are diligently providing humane,

          6  coordinated and compassionate care to improve the

          7  quality of life for all veterans and their families

          8  and the communities. I thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I want to

         10  thank you gentlemen for testifying today. Obviously,

         11  I've also expressed my concerns about MOVA and their

         12  current capacity to fulfill their mission. Thank

         13  you. I'm going to call up the next panel. Joe Bello,

         14  Samuel Farrell and Thomas Mullifield. Please begin.

         15  I guess we can start. Yes, sir.

         16                 MR. MULLIFIELD: My name is Mr. Thomas

         17  Mullifield. I'm Director of Veterans Services for

         18  New Era Veterans Program. It is a facility we have

         19  in the Bronx. It's a SRO where we have 150 former

         20  homeless men and women veterans living there. In

         21  long term, we have guys from World War II all the

         22  way up to the current crisis in Iraq, men and women.

         23  We are experiencing quite a difficulty in trying to

         24  get the message across to everybody that will listen

         25  about the problems that are going on with our
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          2  homeless veterans.

          3                 The first stop exactly is to provide

          4  services for our men and women. That is without a

          5  doubt. Unfortunately, they very rarely exist. It's

          6  not out there to be honest with you. The second is

          7  housing and medical care. At present, we have a 40

          8  foot mobile medical unit. This is a state- of- the-

          9  art unit equipped with x- ray machine, tables,

         10  anything you might need for medical check- up. For

         11  the last four years, it has been sitting idle in our

         12  parking lot due to no funding. It is a quarter of

         13  million dollar vehicle. Yet, we can't get any

         14  funding to get this vehicle up and around to visit

         15  the boroughs, to talk to our veterans, to get them

         16  the health and services they might be able to get.

         17  We don't have any staff on board and that's a

         18  disgrace.

         19                 To piggy back that, I would like to

         20  speak. There is over 15,000 homeless veterans in the

         21  five boroughs alone; 15,000. I mean that's shameful.

         22  Anybody in the government should be ashamed of that.

         23  That's a ridiculous figure. How can you talk I'm

         24  this, I'm that? Fifteen- thousand homeless guys.

         25  These are men and women with children. Here we are
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          2  in conference trying to get and Mr. Hiram Monserrate

          3  doing the best he can for us guys.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you.

          5                 MR. MULLIFIELD: That's unbelievable.

          6  Finally, I don't care about that button. Finally, to

          7  get somebody up here that cares. I mean I get goose

          8  bumps now because we got somebody that will step to

          9  the plate. Bloomberg, as good as he is, a wonderful

         10  Mayor, but he's not stepping to the plate. I don't

         11  want to hear it. There is affordable housing plan.

         12  Affordable for whom? Not affordable for a man making

         13  $800, $900 a month. That's not affordable to him.

         14  Where is that veteran going to live? We're stuck in

         15  a catch 22. The government looks the other way;

         16  State can't help, City don't want to give up the

         17  money. Mr. Monserrate, we have that mobile medical

         18  unit. I would love to take care of one of those

         19  programs that you want to run that we could have the

         20  mobile medical unit to piggy back on top of that

         21  service center. We could do a hell of a job. It

         22  would be as transparent of healthier.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you.

         24                 MR. MULLIFIELD: I don't have any

         25  written statement or anything.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: That's fine.

          3  I've told everyone that --

          4                 MR. MULLIFIELD: I'm a Vietnam vet and

          5  I served my nation. I was homeless at one time. I

          6  know the feeling. I know it hurts. And it is so sad.

          7  I'm emotional guy, but I run on that. I would fight

          8  for men until I die.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Let me just

         10  say the following. I definitely hear you. That's why

         11  and to this we should credit the former speaker,

         12  Gifford Miller, who before he left made this a full

         13  Committee. He created in City government a voice and

         14  gave at least as far as the Council is concerned,

         15  resources so that this would begin. I remember

         16  several of the individuals who are today being at

         17  the early hearings and was a little suspicious of

         18  this is just another PR game. But no, we're actually

         19  having some substantive discussions and we're trying

         20  to ensure that City government begins to respond and

         21  like I've testified before, unfortunately the Feds

         22  and to some degree the State have not done enough

         23  and it is time for us to step to the plate.

         24                 I want to tell all the veterans that.

         25  I really appreciate you coming out here and
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          2  testifying. There is other panelist. But we need to

          3  prepare to do more in the next few weeks so that we

          4  can get this message.

          5                 MR. MULLIFIELD: We're here for you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: You're here

          7  and this fight is not going to be won with bullets

          8  or bayonets. But it could be won with a lot of

          9  letter writing and e- mails and phone calls and

         10  lobbying your local representatives. Everyone should

         11  be speaking to their local Council Members. That is

         12  going to be very important here, and the Mayor. But

         13  their local Council Members, wherever you live, you

         14  should go out and find who your Council Member is,

         15  speak to them and say listen, we know that there is

         16  a bill that Councilman Monserrate has sponsored and

         17  others in the veterans committee.

         18                 There is an initiative and I'm asking

         19  for $5 million. That's what I'm asking for from

         20  government; $5 million to open up resource centers

         21  in the five boroughs so there is at least one place

         22  that someone can go and get some services in each

         23  borough. That's what we are asking for. But we going

         24  to need the Council Members and the Mayor to agree

         25  to this. Unless the veterans hear the call to
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          2  action, it won't happen. I want to say, I really

          3  appreciate your testimony and to also say that even

          4  if you are not submitting written testimony, there

          5  is a transcript of your testimony here. We do have

          6  it on the record. So it's on the record and we'll go

          7  with the next panelist.

          8                 MR. BELLO: Mr. Chairman, thank you

          9  for having me once again to discuss my thoughts

         10  regarding the need for resource centers here in the

         11  City. Let me be clear, the resource center are

         12  needed. Recent Gotham Gazette and New York Times

         13  articles have stated that veterans often come from

         14  economically disadvantaged backgrounds. While the

         15  incentives for joining the military include

         16  references to education and job training, most

         17  veterans are unclear about what they will do after

         18  they are discharged and have little knowledge about

         19  what benefits are available to them after they get

         20  out. We have seen in some cases that it takes up to

         21  a year before an individual decides on what

         22  direction he or she wants to take.

         23                 A veteran's decision making process

         24  could be speeded up if a veteran knew what benefits

         25  he or she was entitled to. While the VA and the
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          2  Department of Defense struggle to implement a

          3  seamless transition program, every year the federal

          4  government is either adding or changing benefits to

          5  veterans. As a result of the current war, there have

          6  been constant changes from year to year. So it is

          7  important for veterans to know what benefits they

          8  are entitled and a resource center would greatly

          9  help in this resolve.

         10                 Having said all that and telling you

         11  I support the idea and concept of having a resource

         12  center, please allow me to be blunt. I am greatly

         13  concerned about this bill as it is currently written

         14  and I am not optimistic that any money for a

         15  resource center will be provided at all. Last year,

         16  this Committee, particularly you, Mr. Monserrate,

         17  worked to set aside money to not only double the

         18  current MOVA budget, but to fund money for a

         19  resource center. Those of us active in the community

         20  know that a) the Bloomberg Administration rejected

         21  that money set aside for MOVA and b) the resource

         22  center money did not make it through the final

         23  budget negotiations.

         24                 According to the Citizen's Budget

         25  Commission, the budget of MOVA is $177,000. This
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          2  goes to what Councilman Avella was saying before.

          3  However, what was not taken into account is that the

          4  State funds MOVA $102,000, which means that the

          5  Bloomberg Administration only funds MOVA roughly

          6  $75,000. I personally do not see a scenario where

          7  the Bloomberg Administration will go along with a

          8  bill to fund resource centers when the Mayor does

          9  not even properly fund his own Office of Veterans

         10  Affairs.

         11                 Also, in Section 1, it states that

         12  the MOVA director shall ensure that at least one

         13  veteran resource center is established. Section 1,

         14  e2 says it states that the Director of MOVA submit

         15  reports every six months to the Mayor and Speaker. I

         16  am at a total loss at how this is going to happen

         17  when you have an office that has not put out a

         18  newsletter since last November. Groups that are

         19  active in the veterans community ask MOVA for space

         20  at 346 to help veterans only to be turned away.

         21  Individuals have called up asking for help and told

         22  they would get back to them and never did. I don't

         23  even want to discuss the Veterans Advisory Board

         24  issue or the recently held Women Veterans event.

         25  That was a disaster.

                                                            68

          1  COMMITTEE ON VETERANS

          2                 As you are all well aware, many of us

          3  during the past year and a half have had to complain

          4  to this very Committee just to get things done and

          5  slowly at that. So allow me to be totally clear. I

          6  can see what is being proposed in this bill if you

          7  had an office that truly cared and was pro- active

          8  on veteran's issues. But the truth is there is no

          9  such concern and for the Administration to hide

         10  behind funding issues is a disservice to all those

         11  who have served.

         12                 A bumper sticker tells you that a

         13  person supports the troops, but in reality doesn't

         14  do much else. The truth is that until the Bloomberg

         15  Administration gets serious or this Committee and

         16  the Council as a whole show the Administration that

         17  they are serious about veterans issues, MOVA and the

         18  Bloomberg Administration will continue to be like

         19  those bumper stickers. So when the Mayor states, we

         20  owe an enormous amount to our veterans, but does

         21  little to back up his statements, we veterans know

         22  where we stand. As Fleet Week and Memorial Day

         23  approach, the pomp and circumstance events are not

         24  going to get it done. So while I agree on the need

         25  for resource centers, I personally foresee problems
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          2  in this bills passage.

          3                 However, I am grateful that to you,

          4  Chairman and this Committee that you recognize that

          5  New York City has a duty and a responsibility to

          6  help returning veterans with a variety of issues.

          7  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you,

          9  Mr. Bello. You are always very eloquent in your

         10  testimony and he is always here present testifying

         11  and advocating for veterans. Let me say that we did

         12  put a similar initiative in last year's budget and

         13  it made it right to the last phase of the budget

         14  process and then it was cut. I think we have learned

         15  some things since last year's budget process. I

         16  think as I have stated earlier, this will not happen

         17  by the City Council alone. It requires some

         18  activities on parts of the veterans and the advocate

         19  organizations. You have to each and every one of you

         20  really reach out to your local Council Members or

         21  reach out to all of them.

         22                 We have organizations here who always

         23  come to the hearing. There is 51 Council Members.

         24  You don't have to send me one because you know where

         25  I'm at; there is 50. Each organization should be

                                                            70

          1  COMMITTEE ON VETERANS

          2  writing 50 letters to each Council Member; one per

          3  Council Member per organization saying we need you

          4  to support this initiative and this bill. Maybe when

          5  they get hundreds of letters from the veterans and

          6  the organizations that represent them, they'll

          7  understand that there is a public need for this. I

          8  think many times it is an issue of really

          9  understanding the need and the understanding the

         10  magnitude.

         11                 There is a lot of individual members

         12  who might not know that there is 350 to 400,000

         13  veterans in the City. Many people don't know those

         14  statistics and the needs that they have. So I

         15  encourage you all to participate and not to lose the

         16  faith because we are here in these chambers having

         17  this hearing, proposing these bills and these

         18  initiatives with a purpose. We'll hear now from Mr.

         19  Farrell.

         20                 MR. FARRELL: Thank you, Council

         21  Member Monserrate. My name is Samuel E. Farrell, II.

         22  I'm representing LaGuardia Community College. I

         23  appear again after last September's testimony to

         24  recommend that LaGuardia Community College lead a

         25  consortium of CUNY units in the five boroughs to
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          2  serve as the New York City Veterans Resource

          3  Centers. This consortium will work collaboratively

          4  with the Mayor's Office of Veterans Affairs which is

          5  currently under funded, as well as veterans service

          6  organizations and community- based organizations

          7  such as the Black Veterans for Social Justice, the

          8  New York City Coalition for Veterans in Pain and

          9  Distress and the Staten Island Supports Our Soldiers

         10  who we heard from earlier today.

         11                 As you may already know, CUNY is the

         12  nation's largest urban university and we offer

         13  approximately 1,400 academic programs, more than 200

         14  majors leading to associate and baccalaureate

         15  degrees and more than 100 graduate degrees. CUNY has

         16  the space and CUNY has the technology for such

         17  centers. Thanks to people such as John Byrnes, Joe

         18  Bello, Chris Rosa (phonetic) and Ben Chitty

         19  (phonetic) of the Veterans Affairs Committee, we

         20  plan to have a website in place that will help

         21  veterans get access to information concerning

         22  veterans benefits, et cetera.

         23                 We recognize the critical and

         24  thankless role so many of our frontline community

         25  based organizations play in providing direct
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          2  services to veterans and their families. The City

          3  Council should be careful in not setting up a

          4  bidding war with funds for the resource centers that

          5  will divide veterans service organizations at a time

          6  when it will take massive collaborations with these

          7  organizations to advocate for and to serve the

          8  returning soldiers beyond whatever funding the

          9  Council may provide.

         10                 We also need to conduct a major

         11  outreach campaign around the veteran centers to the

         12  veterans community. We also need to pay attention to

         13  the equally important readjustment assistance that

         14  the families of the returning soldiers need. At

         15  home, these families develop social, physical,

         16  emotional, and economic independence during the

         17  soldier's absence. It will take time and assistance

         18  from all veterans service agencies to help New York

         19  City families make space for the returning soldiers.

         20                 Finally, it will be helpful if the

         21  Council develop an RFP that will require mandated

         22  linkages among veteran service organizations and a

         23  specific measurable outcomes and guidelines will

         24  allow for monetary and evaluating these veterans

         25  outreach centers. Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you

          3  very much for your testimony. We are going to call

          4  up the next panel. Mr. Ricky Singh, John Byrnes and

          5  Edward Daniels.

          6                 MR. BYRNES: Good afternoon. I'd like

          7  to thank the City Council for the chance to speak.

          8  My name is John Byrnes. I'm a Sergeant in the New

          9  York State Army National Guard and a recently

         10  returned Iraq vet. I have been home for about a year

         11  now. (clapping). Thank you.

         12                 I beg a little indulgence if I run a

         13  little too long. With the federal debt, once again

         14  spiraling upward, the Bush Administration has

         15  started to limit increases to the Veterans

         16  Administration's budget; a budget that has for years

         17  been designed to deal with a stable population of

         18  veterans. A budget that doesn't account for hundreds

         19  of thousands of new combat vets. A veterans budget

         20  faced with nearly 20,000 new cases of physically

         21  wounded soldiers. No one can yet count how many

         22  psychically wounded we face.

         23                 Here in New York, there is still a

         24  threat of closure at the Manhattan VA Hospital which

         25  would force City vets to find their way to less
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          2  accessible hospitals in other boroughs. VA hospitals

          3  in themselves are far from friendly places. Once a

          4  vet manages to pass through security check points of

          5  police and metal detectors, they face a bewildering

          6  bureaucracy and a pass the buck cancel the

          7  appointment approach to their care. Iraq and

          8  Afghanistan vets are just beginning to seek help.

          9  Home from Iraq for little more than a year now,

         10  friends of mine who I deployed with to Iraq are just

         11  started to admit to their readjustment issues.

         12                 These men and women are starting to

         13  admit to trouble adjusting to nightmares, to

         14  depression, to drinking too much. Already social

         15  service agencies are reporting homeless veterans

         16  from Iraq and Afghanistan. If Vietnam is any lesson

         17  at all, this is the tip of the iceberg. Things are

         18  going to get worse without help. In the aftermath of

         19  Vietnam, a wave of returning vets was met by a

         20  society unprepared to assist them. America ended up

         21  with a population of veterans with higher than

         22  average incidents of psychological disorders,

         23  unemployment and homeless.

         24                 Popular opposition to the war was

         25  taken out on vets and political will was lacking.
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          2  PTSD, post- traumatic stress disorder, the most

          3  prevalent psychological affect of the war was still

          4  not properly understood. We can't afford to repeat

          5  these problems. Just like the jungle ambush, the IED

          6  attack in Iraq comes out of nowhere. One minute you

          7  are riding up Highway 1, maybe in the back of an

          8  unarmored truck, the next minute the world is

          9  spinning in five dimensions of horrendous sound and

         10  blinding fury. You are frantically trying to apply a

         11  pressure dressing to someone bleeding all over you.

         12  These are the things that nightmares are made of;

         13  post- traumatic stress disorder.

         14                 Many of New York City's newest

         15  veterans are guardsmen and reservists or young men

         16  and women who inspired by 9/11 and listed in the

         17  armed forces. We have fought in several countries.

         18  We overthrew the Taliban in Afghanistan, home to Bin

         19  Laden, who participated in the destruction of the

         20  evil regime in Iraq. Guardsmen from this City help

         21  compel the very evidence being used to try Sadam

         22  Hussein today. We have stood at Ground Zero when we

         23  were called. We have secured New York's airports for

         24  months to reassured a terrified flying public and

         25  assure New York's economic well- being.
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          2                 We continue guarding the subways and

          3  commuter rails as needed. We usually ask for a

          4  little more than thanks. New York City, sadly,

          5  offers little more than that today. I am giving to

          6  understand that there should be one veteran

          7  counselor per county by State regulation. This

          8  office of MOVA has done little in the last year that

          9  I have seen that I have been home. Surely, with only

         10  three people, it can do little.

         11                 We are asking for help. If we wish to

         12  avoid the problems of the '70's and '80's, the

         13  homelessness and the serious mental illnesses

         14  neglected by everyone, we need to do something. New

         15  York's veterans are asking for help now. Veterans

         16  deserve this. We've earned it and most of all we

         17  need it. Thank you.

         18                 MR. DANIELS: Good afternoon. My name

         19  is Edward Daniels. I'm the Chair of the Incarcerated

         20  Veterans Consortium and it is an honor to be here

         21  this afternoon to speak before the Committee. Thank

         22  you, Council Member Monserrate for having this

         23  hearing. I had a little conflict when I filled out

         24  the form to testify because if you look at, I said,

         25  I oppose and I'm in favor of the bill. I was
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          2  conflicted because where I think the resource

          3  centers are a very good and great idea and they are

          4  very much needed, I'm concerned by the fact that the

          5  money to run these resource centers and the

          6  supervision of these resource centers is to be

          7  oversought by the Mayor's Office of Veterans

          8  Affairs.

          9                 Being very honest and blunt to the

         10  point, I can't foresee why we would give the money

         11  to the Mayor's Office of Veterans Affairs when I

         12  think personally and I will get into that, when it

         13  would be best served to fund community based

         14  organizations that have the know withal about their

         15  communities in each borough where they are operating

         16  at, who knows the veterans community, who have been

         17  doing this for years and in contact with the

         18  veterans and have been servicing them. What better

         19  organizations need the money or should get the money

         20  as the community based organizations of veterans.

         21                 I see this in my own community. I

         22  have a very wealth of information and guys that we

         23  serve and if you look at the five boroughs, there is

         24  a main line community based organizations like New

         25  Era in the Bronx; Black Veterans in Brooklyn;

                                                            78

          1  COMMITTEE ON VETERANS

          2  Incarcerated Veterans in Manhattan; the Staten

          3  Island Support Our Soldiers. These are organizations

          4  that are already up and running and have been

          5  serving the veterans as they come back from

          6  Afghanistan and Iraq. They have been serving the

          7  veterans for Gold War I. They have been serving the

          8  veterans from Korea. They have been the veterans

          9  from World War II and most importantly, they have

         10  been serving the veterans that are in between wars.

         11  And they have been serving their families and their

         12  relatives. To put the money in the hands of the

         13  Mayor's Office of Veterans Affairs who's Director

         14  eloquently stated in so many words that the post

         15  that she holds is mostly ceremonial.

         16                 There was nothing in there that said

         17  that they were going to substantive work. Everyone

         18  of the organizations that I just named, we do

         19  substantive work. We do hands on work. We go into

         20  prisons. We have linkage with housing. We have

         21  linkages with employment agencies. We have linkages

         22  with the Department of Labor and this is hands on.

         23  We don't refer everybody out to somewhere and say,

         24  go find it for yourself because we understand the

         25  psychology of the veterans that are coming back.
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          2  They are in a state of confusion. They need someone

          3  to take them by the hand and lead them before they

          4  can say, hey, guys, you can walk on your own now.

          5  Try it. I'm going to watch over you, but I'm going

          6  to take you by the hand and lead you down the path

          7  here for a minute to get you on your way. That's why

          8  we need the money given to the community based

          9  organizations.

         10                 It doesn't deserve to go to the

         11  Mayor's Office of Veterans Affairs. Because she

         12  said, well, we have to see where we are going to put

         13  it or where we are going to use it. It's going to

         14  get tied up for years. The guys that are coming

         15  home, I have women veterans coming. Just to digress

         16  here for a second to give you an example. I spoke to

         17  the Mayor's Office of Veterans Affairs folks over a

         18  year ago regarding a woman veteran that did two

         19  tours in Iraq. She came back. She has a baby. When

         20  she came in my office, she had a body odor. She had

         21  a son that looked like he wasn't taken care of.

         22                 We tried to work with the Mayor's

         23  Office to get information on how to contact the

         24  father of the baby for a DNA test. I was told, do a,

         25  b, c and fax the information. I waited, turned
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          2  around, the lady came back and says, well I haven't

          3  heard. I called up and said, I'll call you on

          4  Wednesday about that. I'm still waiting for

          5  Wednesday. The lady came in this past Wednesday,

          6  thank God through diligent efforts she is cleaner.

          7  The baby is being taken care of and we are in the

          8  process of trying to get her VA benefits.

          9                 Why would you give money to someone

         10  that is going to do mostly ceremonial work when the

         11  people that actually deserves the money to do it,

         12  New Era Veterans, Black Veterans, IVC, Staten Island

         13  Support Our Soldiers, these are the organizations

         14  that need the money. Because these are the backbone,

         15  these are the organizations that are the backbone to

         16  each community and they came out of the Bronx,

         17  Brooklyn, Queens, Staten Island and I thank you for

         18  your time.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Let me

         20  clarify a few things. First, of all, as you can

         21  imagine, the initiative in the bill are

         22  introductions and I would envision that they will be

         23  amendments and/or changes. Secondly, the way the

         24  City Council, I'll just let everyone understand

         25  this, the way the City Council allocates funding,
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          2  all our funding that the City Council assigns either

          3  through the budget, discretionary, whichever line it

          4  comes through, is assigned through a City agency.

          5  Sometimes it will go to the Department of Health,

          6  Department of Housing, Department of Youth and

          7  Community Development, Department for the Aging,

          8  Department for Consumer Affairs, Department for

          9  Cultural Affairs. It all has to go through one of

         10  the agencies. The City Council can't give it

         11  directly. That's the way it works and that's the way

         12  it would be.

         13                 In essence, that agency has a

         14  responsibility to ensure that there is compliance

         15  and the monies are being appropriated correctly. Not

         16  so much as to dictate the policy of how and where

         17  the money should go and so forth and just so that

         18  you can have that understanding. The same concerns

         19  you have expressed have been expressed by other

         20  advocates with respect to other agencies whether

         21  it's through the Department of Health, whichever

         22  agency. These concerns do come up. But again, I

         23  think a better understanding of the actual process

         24  will demonstrate to you that the agency has an

         25  obligation and a role to ensure that the monies are
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          2  being spent appropriately and it is in compliance.

          3  But not necessarily that they are "calling the

          4  shots" on how the money is being spent. Okay. We'll

          5  go on to the next panelist.

          6                 MR. SINGH: Thank you, sir. Good

          7  afternoon, Honorable Chair, distinguished members of

          8  the Veteran Committee and notable guests. My name is

          9  Ricky Singh and I am here on behalf of Mr. Job

         10  Mashariki, President and CEO of Black Veterans for

         11  Social Justice. I am honored and grateful to appear

         12  before you to testify on the creation of military

         13  veterans resource centers.

         14                 I would first like to say that Black

         15  Veterans for Social Justice has served for 27 years

         16  to improve the quality of life for all veterans. On

         17  average, we serve over 5,000 veterans and their

         18  families yearly. While cause and effect are not

         19  fully clear, the crisis our veteran population faces

         20  everyday is both familiar and disturbing. Over

         21  430,000 troops discharged from the military

         22  following service in Iraq and Afghanistan, more than

         23  119,000 have already sought help for medical and

         24  mental health issues from the VA.

         25                 Post traumatic stress disorder has
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          2  increased tenfold in the past year. According to the

          3  VA, over 37,000 veterans of Iraq and Afghanistan

          4  currently suffer from mental health disorders and

          5  over 16,000 have already been diagnosed with PTSD

          6  whose symptoms include terrifying flashbacks,

          7  nightmares and intrusive thoughts that disrupt work

          8  and home life.

          9                 According to an Army Post Deployment

         10  Reassessment Study completed in July 2005, alcohol

         11  misuse among soldiers rose from 13 to 21 percent one

         12  year after returning from Iraq and Afghanistan.

         13  Anger and aggression issues increased from 11 to 22

         14  percent after deployment; planned divorce climbed

         15  from nine to 15 percent. In November 2205, nearly 15

         16  percent of veterans ages 20 to 24 were jobless;

         17  three times the national average.

         18                 Col. Dr. Charles Hodge of Walter

         19  Reed's Institute of Research reported this year that

         20  33 percent of those soldiers returning from Iraq had

         21  sought treatment for mental illness. Another

         22  statistic I offer you is a frightening one. Over 60

         23  percent of Iraq veterans who have screened positive

         24  for PTSD and other mental health disorders are not

         25  receiving treatment of any kind. Our country has
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          2  spent over $300 billion on a war that is resulting

          3  in our nation's veterans returning home broken and

          4  often without a home to return to. New York State

          5  alone has spent $23 billion in the war effort; money

          6  that could have paid for 78,000 housing units in New

          7  York City.

          8                 Over the years, BVSJ service to

          9  veterans consumers through our multi- service

         10  Veteran Resource Center has resulted in many

         11  homeless veterans being housed, reunited with

         12  families, medically compliant, sober and making a

         13  meaningful contribution to the betterment of

         14  society. BVSJ's commitment to our veterans consumers

         15  is clear and it will continue. What is needed, of

         16  course, is a commitment from the same government

         17  that sends our young men and women to war. What is

         18  needed is the commitment of government funding for

         19  community based organizations like BVSJ to continue

         20  our work.

         21                 While we applaud the Committee's

         22  efforts to address the concerns of veterans and we

         23  support the enacting of legislation mandating the

         24  establishment of these veterans resource centers, we

         25  are evenly more concerned about the lack of real
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          2  services that are specific to the special needs of

          3  veterans. The plight of homelessness, unemployment,

          4  and mental health illness, substance abuse, et

          5  cetera, that we find so prevalent among veterans is

          6  the result of the lack of real services and not

          7  because the veterans lack information about the

          8  existence of these services.

          9                 As you walk the streets of New York,

         10  look at those automobiles with their patriotic

         11  ribbons proudly stating, Support Our Troops. Notice

         12  the absence of patriotic ribbons stating, Support

         13  Our Veterans. Imagine how you would feel seeing all

         14  of our homeless veterans still in uniform as they

         15  tried to keep themselves warm on sewer grates, in

         16  subways, or in cardboard boxes in our City's alleys.

         17  The word shame comes to mind.

         18                 Lastly, remember the words of George

         19  Washington. The willingness with which our young

         20  people are likely to serve in any war, no matter how

         21  justified, shall be directly proportional to how

         22  they perceive how the veterans of earlier wars were

         23  treated and appreciated by their nation. Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you. I

         25  don't think we have anyone listed to testify. I
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          2  think we've gone through all the testimonies. I want

          3  to thank you gentlemen for providing your testimony

          4  today. Like I said, in closing, I'll say the

          5  initiative currently has five sponsors including

          6  myself and that is ten percent of the Council

          7  already. We will continue to work on adding to that.

          8  I will be sending communications to all of you. If

          9  there is any other veterans organization group or

         10  concerned veteran that has not testified today, but

         11  wants to receive information and updates from this

         12  Committee, I would encourage you to see these

         13  gentlemen right here before you leave and give them

         14  your information and your contacts so that we can

         15  add you to our mailing lists. At this point, we will

         16  be keeping you abreast as to when the next hearing

         17  will be. I thank you all for your testimony and your

         18  participation and that will conclude today's

         19  hearing. Thank you very much.

         20                 (Hearing concluded at 3:00 p.m.)
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